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Can anyone dispute that the
Internet, social media, computers,
smartphones, iPads, gadgets and
the like have changed the practice
of law? Whether you believe
these items have made the
practice better or worse, easier or

harder, the practical reality is that they have
changed how we do our jobs. 

Email communications, electronic filing, Internet access in
the courthouse, to name a few, have all helped create a differ-
ent way of practicing law than we have ever known. The Labor
and Employment Law Section and our members need to
embrace these new technologies and advances and make use
of what is available to us. As such, I am using this column to
give you all some insight into one of the areas that our section
is working on: namely, improving the section’s presence on
the NJSBA website and providing resources to our members. 
If you have not done so yet, I strongly recommend that you

go to the new and improved website that the NJSBA has cre-
ated—www.njsba.com. It is an excellent website, and is full
of terrific resources. When you visit the website, if it is your
first visit to the new version, you will need to log in with a
user name and password. The NJSBA sent out emails with
instructions, but if you missed them, contact Member Ser-
vices at 732-249-5000 for assistance. After you have success-
fully logged in, click on Community and accept the code of

conduct, which governs online behavior in CommunityNET.
Doing this will allow you to set your preferences, and will be
your initial introduction into the CommunityNET portion of
the website.
CommunityNET is the new connected community for

NJSBA members. Everything you need to know about how
this section of the website works is outlined in a convenient
PowerPoint presentation prepared by Barbara Straczynski,
director of new media and promotions. The PowerPoint pre-
sentation will show you how to navigate and utilize the many
features of CommunityNET. It covers customizing personal
settings, finding the Labor and Employment Law Section
community, engaging in discussions in our section e-group
and other sections you might have an interest in, sharing files,
accessing the Quarterly, writing blogs and more. 
You can find the Labor and Employment Section in Com-

munityNET as one of your Communities under Profile > My
Communities. You will notice that there is already an exten-
sive amount of information available. This includes: notice of
upcoming events, current and past issues of the New Jersey
Labor and Employment Law Quarterly, the section bylaws, a
list of section members, past legislative positions taken by the
section, and section news. Despite the presence of all of this
information, we have only really scratched the surface of what
we intend to accomplish and have available to our section
members. In the coming weeks and months, we will update
you on new developments and features that we add to our part
of CommunityNET. It is an exciting time for our section, and
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we believe that this will be another ter-
rific member benefit that we can add to
help us advance our mission and provide
further incentive for others to join this
wonderful section. 
In addition, it is likely that as we

move forward with our endeavor to
increase our web presence, future edi-
tions of the Quarterly will be coming to
you electronically. We also hope to
update you via postings about our Exec-
utive Committee meetings, seminars,

and opportunities to get involved. A
more aggressive undertaking will be
determining how to use the community
blogs section and adding links and
resources for our members. Our section
is what we make it, and our members
have a history of support and involve-
ment that is second to none, so there is
no reason to think that this will not hap-
pen in short order and will not be a
resounding success. 
I hope you enjoy this edition of the

Quarterly; another edition filled with
timely and excellent articles that we
have come to expect. This is a particu-

larly exciting edition because of the col-
laboration with employment law stu-
dents; another effort by our section to
assist in getting new attorneys involved.
It is also interesting to note that this edi-
tion has an article on social media; an
example that these issues are now
embedded in our practice and will not
be going away anytime soon. 
As always, please let me know if you

have any suggestions for meetings,
events, seminars, committees, and the
like, or if you or someone you know
would like to become more involved in
the section. �
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In the winter issue of the Labor and
Employment Law Quarterly, we are
pleased to start the year with our inau-
gural collaboration between attorney
authors and employment law students
from the Rutgers School of Law-Cam-
den and the Earle Mack School of
Law at Drexel University. Danielle
Rementer and Steve Berlin advise
why a performance improvement plan
alone is not an adverse employment
action. Adam Roseman, Ken Rosen-
berg, and Todd Palo provide a com-
prehensive overview of where the
National Labor Relations Board
stands on employee use of social
media. Shazrae Mian and Denise
Keyser update employers and employ-
ees on recent developments under the
Occupational Safety and Health Act.
Nobu Hiro and I address the intended
and unintended changes to New Jersey
wage and hour law. 
This issue of the Quarterly also

analyzes recent disparate impact cases.
Ivan Mendez and Shane Kagan discuss
the disparate impact of hiring require-
ments in recent discrimination and
reverse discrimination decisions. In
addition, Lia N. Brooks and Rich
Rosenblatt explain the new New Jersey
prohibition against discriminating in
job postings on the basis of unemploy-
ment. Finally, Cheoma Smith warns
employers of the heightened signifi-
cance of administrative determinations
in light of a court’s consideration of
the decision of the unemployment
compensation tribunal in Gibbs v.
Caswell-Massey. 
The editors of the Quarterly espe-

cially thank Pam Jenoff, Esquire, clin-
ical assistant professor at the Rutgers
School of Law-Camden, for her assis-
tance with this issue, and the law stu-
dents and their attorney co-authors for
their excellent contributions and col-
laborative effort. �

EDITOR’S MESSAGE
by Anne Ciesla Bancroft
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On July 22, 2011, the Third Circuit
in Reynolds v. Department of the Army1

held that placing an employee on a per-
formance improvement plan (PIP),
absent accompanying changes to pay,
benefits, or employment status, is not an
adverse employment action. The Third
Circuit’s holding is in line with recent
decisions from other circuit courts con-
sidering the same issue. While Reynolds
is an Age Discrimination in Employ-
ment Act of 1967 (ADEA) case,2 the
ruling is also consistent with the way
courts have interpreted the adverse
employment action requirement for
claims based on Title VII of the Civil
Rights Act of 19643 and the New Jersey
Law Against Discrimination (LAD).4

Factual Background
In Jan. 2004, Raymond Reynolds, a

longtime employee of the federal
 government, transferred to an engineer-
ing position with the U.S. Army in the
On-The-Move Testbed section of the
Communications-Electronics Research,
Development, and Engineering Center,
located in Fort Monmouth. His supervi-
sor was Norma Kornwebel, director/
deputy director of the Testbed. 
According to Kornwebel, Reynolds

did not take his job at the Testbed seri-
ously; he improperly delegated respon-
sibilities to others; and he failed to com-
ply with directives. Reynolds generally
disputed Kornwebel’s assertions of poor
job performance, and instead claimed
that, since starting with the Testbed,
Kornwebel treated him dismissively
and failed to present him with a job
description or position objectives. 
Kornwebel indicated Reynolds failed

to meet two out of his seven job objec-
tives in his Aug. 2004 evaluation. She

then put him on a PIP when she met with
him to discuss the evaluation. Under the
PIP, Reynolds was given 90 days to
either bring his performance to an
acceptable level or face the possibility of
reassignment, demotion, or termination. 
On Nov. 4, 2004, the day after he

received the PIP, Reynolds applied for
two early retirement incentive pro-
grams: voluntary early retirement
authority (VERA) and voluntary sepa-
ration incentive pay (VSIP). 
The next month, Reynolds submitted

a complaint to the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission alleging age
discrimination. Reynolds was 51 at the
time. Subsequently, Reynolds was
offered a 90-day extension on his PIP,
but was denied an extension to accept
VERA/VSIP benefits, for which he had
been approved. Reynolds declined the
PIP extension, but alleges he would
have accepted the extension and
remained working at the Testbed had he
also received an extension for electing
VERA/VSIP. Ultimately, Reynolds
elected to take his early retirement
option through VERA/VSIP.
Reynolds filed his lawsuit against the

Department of the Army in the District
of New Jersey in June 2008, alleging he
was the victim of age discrimination
and retaliation during his employment
with the Testbed, suffered a hostile
work environment, and was construc-
tively discharged. The Army moved for
summary judgment on Sept. 29, 2009.

District Court Decision
After reviewing the sufficiency of

Reynolds’ claim under the McDonnell
Douglas framework,5 requiring that a
plaintiff must plead and prove he suf-
fered an adverse employment action as

a result of the alleged wrongful con-
duct,6 the district court granted the
Army’s motion for summary judgment.
Having determined that the mere place-
ment of Reynolds on the PIP did not
constitute an adverse employment
action, the court ruled that Reynolds
failed to make out a prima facie case for
both age discrimination and retaliation.7

Quoting Burlington Industries v.
Ellerth, the court recognized that an
adverse employment action is a “signif-
icant change in employment status,
such as hiring, firing, failing to pro-
mote, reassignment with significantly
different responsibilities, or a decision
causing significant change in benefits.”8

Following federal precedent, the court
held that a PIP alone cannot constitute
an adverse employment action absent
changes to pay, benefits or employment
status.9

Reynolds argued that his placement
on the PIP, together with other asser-
tions that he was subjected to a hostile
work environment and he was construc-
tively discharged, supported a claim
that he suffered an adverse action. Hav-
ing concluded, however, that Reynolds
failed to satisfy his burden as to the hos-
tile work environment and constructive
discharge claims, the court rejected the
argument that the PIP by itself was suf-
ficient evidence of adverse action. 

Third Circuit Decision
On appeal, the Third Circuit agreed

with the district court. In a concise,
three-and-a-half-page opinion, the
appeals court concluded that, absent
accompanying changes to pay, benefits,
or employment status, a performance
improvement plan is not an adverse
employment action.10

IT COULD BE WORSE
PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

IS NOT AN ADVERSE EMPLOYMENT ACTION

by Steven M. Berlin and student co-author Danielle Rementer
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The appeals court first agreed the
district court correctly applied the
McDonnell Douglas burden-shifting
framework in assessing the claim, as the
plaintiff relied solely on indirect evi-
dence. Next, the court agreed with the
district court that a showing of an
adverse employment action was neces-
sary to establish a prima facie case of
discrimination. 
The Third Circuit noted that the

Army’s conduct that had the most
potential to satisfy the adverse employ-
ment action standard was the placement
of Reynolds on the PIP. Nevertheless,
the Third Circuit saw no reason to devi-
ate from its sister courts of appeal, and
held that a PIP is not an adverse
employment action absent accompany-
ing changes to pay, benefits, or employ-
ment status.11

Illustrating its ruling, the Third Cir-
cuit then went on to discuss the signifi-
cant differences between a PIP and the
types of employment actions that have
qualified as adverse. For example,
unlike a change in employment status,
the court explained that a PIP commu-
nicated to an employee ways in which
that employee could better perform his
or her existing duties. Justifying its rul-
ing, the Third Circuit suggested that a
likely consequence of allowing suits to
proceed on the basis of a PIP alone
“would be more naked claims of dis-
crimination and greater frustration for
employers seeking to improve employ-
ees’ performance.”12

Accordingly, the court concluded
that because Reynolds failed to demon-
strate his PIP was accompanied by an
adverse change in the conditions of his
employment, the district court appropri-
ately dismissed his complaint.

Impact of Reynolds v. Army
Reynolds is consistent with the way

federal and state courts in New Jersey
have been ruling in discrimination and
retaliation cases based on Title VII and
the NJ LAD.
Like ADEA, Title VII discrimination

and retaliation claims also require a
showing of an adverse employment
action.13 The Third Circuit relied on cas-
es construing Title VII in adopting the
standard for an ADEA claim in
Reynolds.14 Moreover, New Jersey
courts have traditionally looked to fed-

eral precedent governing Title VII as a
“‘key source of interpretive authority’”
in construing the LAD.15 Although New
Jersey courts have interpreted the LAD
protections against discrimination
broadly, they still have only found that a
PIP constituted an adverse employment
action when the PIP was accompanied
with some type of change to the condi-
tions of employment.16 Therefore, it is
also likely that the New Jersey courts
will follow Reynolds.
Employees who rely on a PIP alone

will likely be unsuccessful in a discrim-
ination or retaliation case. However, a
PIP may enhance an adverse action
claim when changes in an employee’s
work conditions are present. 
For employers, Reynolds will have

the effect of providing some assurance
that merely placing an employee on a
PIP will not lend credence to an unsub-
stantiated employment discrimination
claim. However, caution is still warrant-
ed, as the Third Circuit did not comment
on the extent to which changes to pay,
benefits, or employment status are
required in order for a PIP to be the basis
for a successful adverse action claim.
Furthermore, disparate treatment in the
use of PIPs with different employees
could present a different fact pattern that
might be held to constitute an adverse
action under applicable laws.
To protect against future employ-

ment discrimination suits, employers
who continue to utilize PIPs should
ensure that such plans are implemented
uniformly and not accompanied with
changes to pay, benefits or employment
status in any way. 
One thing is clear from the Reynolds

decision: Absent more, an employee’s
reliance on mere placement on a PIP
will not pass muster in an adverse
action claim. �

Endnotes
1. No. 10-3600, 2011 WL 2938101

(3d Cir. July 22, 2011).
2. 29 U.S.C. § 621 et seq.
3. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.
4. N.J.S.A. 10:5-1 et seq.
5. Under the framework, the plaintiff

bears the initial burden of proving a
prima facie case of discrimination.
Once proved, the burden of produc-
tion shifts to the employer to iden-
tify a legitimate nondiscriminatory

reason for the adverse employment
action. If the employer does so, the
burden of production shifts back to
the plaintiff to demonstrate that the
employer’s proffered rationale was
a pretext for age discrimination. At
all times, however, the burden of
persuasion rests with the plaintiff.
Smith v. City of Allentown, 589 F.3d
684, 689-90 (3d Cir. 2009).

6. To establish a prima facie case of
discrimination in an ADEA case, a
plaintiff must show “first, that the
plaintiff is forty years of age or old-
er; second, that the defendant took
an adverse employment action
against the plaintiff; third, that the
plaintiff was qualified for the posi-
tion in question; and fourth, that
the plaintiff was ultimately
replaced by another employee who
was sufficiently younger to support
an inference of discriminatory ani-
mus.” Id. (emphasis supplied).

7. Reynolds v. Dep’t of the Army, No.
08-2944, 2010 WL 2674045, at
*11, 18 (D.N.J. June 30, 2010).

8. 524 U.S. 742, 761 (1998).
9. Reynolds, WL 2674045, at *3. See,

also, Haynes v. Level 3 Communica-
tions, LLC, 456 F.3d 1215, 1224
(10th Cir. 2006) (holding that while a
PIP, standing alone, is not an adverse
employment action, a written warn-
ing may indeed constitute an adverse
employment action where “it effects
a significant change in the plaintiff’s
employment status.”), cert. denied,
549 U.S. 1252 (2007); Cole v. Illi-
nois, 562 F.3d 812, 816-17 (7th Cir.
2009) (holding under the FMLA that
an improvement plan cannot consti-
tute adverse employment action,
where the most onerous aspect
required only submission of daily
and weekly schedules, but did not
deprive employee of responsibility,
hours or pay); Givens v. Cingular
Wireless, 396 F.3d 998, 998-99 (8th
Cir. 2005) (noting that placement on
employee improvement plan is
actionable only if later used to detri-
mentally alter terms and conditions
of plaintiff’s employment).

10. Reynolds, 2011 WL 2938101, at *2.
11. Id. at *3.
12. Id.
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In particular, the NLRB’s Division
of Advice’s recent social media deci-
sions show that an employer’s attempts
to manage its employees’ activities in
cyberspace will be deemed a violation
of Section 8(a)(1) of the NLRA where:

1. The employer’s actions improperly
interfere with, restrain or coerce its
employees’ right to engage in “pro-
tected and concerted” Section 7
activities; and/or

2. The promulgation of the employer’s
social media policy in and of itself
improperly chills its employees’
rights to engage in “protected con-
certed activities” under Section 7 of
the NLRA.

An employer violates Section 8(a)(1)
of the NLRA where it coerces, intimi-
dates, disciplines and/or discharges
employees who engage in “protected
concerted activity.” Section 8(a)(1) of
the NLRA makes it an unfair labor
practice for an employer to interfere
with employees in the exercise of their
Section 7 rights.3

Section 7 of the NLRA, in relevant
part, grants employees the “right” to
strike, picket, handbill and/or demon-

strate peacefully against their employer,
and to engage in a full range of activi-
ties related to these rights. Pursuant to
these rights, employees are entitled to
communicate with their coworkers, and
the general public, as part of a concert-
ed effort to affect changes in their terms
and conditions of employment. More-
over, an employer violates Section
8(a)(1) merely by implementing a poli-
cy that could interfere with employees’
Section 7 rights.4

Accordingly, an employer’s promul-
gation of a social media policy and/or
enforcement of that policy must not
improperly interfere with its employ-
ees’ rights to engage in “protected con-
certed activity.” It is thus incumbent
upon all employers to determine
whether the employee(s)’ social media
activity constitutes protected concerted
activity, and/or whether the promulga-
tion of a social media policy can be
interpreted as interfering with same pri-
or to taking such action to avoid violat-
ing the NLRA.
In sum, employers should ask:

1. Is the employee engaged in activities
that are “concerted”?

2. Is the employee engaged in social

media activities that are “protected”
by the NLRA?

3. Does the employer’s social media
policy interfere with its employees’
rights to engage in “protected con-
certed” activities?

Where the answer is no to these
questions, an employer’s response to an
employee’s social media activities
and/or promulgation of a social media
policy will be permissible under the
NLRA.5

Is the Employee Engaged in Social
Media Activities that are “Concerted”?
The NLRB has held that protected

“concerted activities” are those
“engaged in with or on the authority of
other employees, and not solely by and
on behalf of the employee himself.”6

Personal gripes are not deemed concert-
ed by the NLRB.

The board has also stated it will find
concerted activity: “[w]hen the record evi-
dence demonstrates group activities,
whether specifically authorized in a formal
agency sense,…or otherwise[.]”7 Concert-
ed activity also includes “circumstances
where individual employees seek to initi-
ate or to induce or to prepare for group
action,” and where individual employees
bring “truly group complaints to manage-
ment’s attention.”8 Thus, individual activi-
ties that are the logical outgrowth of con-
cerns expressed by the employees collec-
tively are considered concerted.9

In addition, the board has found that
employee discussions related to shared
concerns about terms and conditions
constitute concerted activity, even if no
specific group action is contemplated,
because such discussions usually pre-
cede group action.10

CAREFUL WHERE YOU STEP
DRAFTING AND ENFORCING SOCIAL MEDIA POLICIES 

REQUIRES WALKING A FINE LINE

by Kenneth A. Rosenberg, Todd A. Palo and student co-author Adam R. Roseman

Over the past year, the National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) has
reviewed a number of cases dealing with employers’ attempts to
manage their employees’ activities in cyberspace through the
promulgation of social media policies and/or disciplinary action.1

The NLRB’s focus on this issue is a reminder to all employers that
the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA)2 requires employers to
balance their efforts to protect their corporate reputations,
customers and business associates from harassing and untruthful
allegations on the Internet against their employees’ rights to discuss
their working conditions.
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The division examined whether an
employee’s social media activity was
concerted in JT’s Porch Saloon &
Eatery, Ltd.11 There, a bartender con-
veyed to his stepsister via Facebook that
he had not had a raise in years, and was
working without tips, and described his
customers as “rednecks” who he hoped
“choked on glass as they drove home
drunk.”12 The employer fired the bar-
tender when it saw the Facebook
posts.13 The division found that the
employee “did not engage in any con-
certed activity,” as the online com-
plaints were never discussed with other
employees, and other employees did not
respond to the posting.14

Likewise, in Sagepoint Financial,
Inc., the division concluded that an
employer did not violate the NLRA
when it fired an employee over his
Facebook posts that lambasted his
supervisor’s performance, because his
activities were not concerted.15 The
employee’s criticisms, through numer-
ous Facebook posts, included calling
the supervisor a bitch and lazy, and
insinuating that she was having an affair
with one of the other analysts. The divi-
sion reached this conclusion even
though a coworker occasionally
responded to the posts to express
amusement or sympathy for his situa-
tion, and a friend who was not a
coworker asked whether he was
“[g]unnin for a raise or promotion...[.]”
He responded, “[k]issing up I am not.
Gunning? Perhaps[.]”
In reviewing the employee’s Face-

book complaints, the division found the
statements were made solely on the
employee’s own behalf, and were not
designed to advance any cause other
than his own. Moreover, it found the
employee did not evidence any inten-
tion of instigating group action or
bringing any group concern to manage-
ment.16 Thus, the division deemed the
employee’s comments personal gripes,
which were not concerted activities.
The division also recommended an

8(a)(1) violation complaint be dis-
missed against Frito-Lay Inc., because
again the employee did not engage in
concerted activity.17 There, the employ-
ee told his supervisor he was not feeling
well during his shift, and the supervisor
stated that he could leave work but it
would cost him an attendance point.18

The employee completed his shift
because he did not want to risk losing
another attendance point.19 After work,
the employee accessed his Facebook
account through his phone and posted,
“[i]t’s a Damn shame when ur own boss
don’t even care about ur health.smh. I
Damn there had a heart attack on the
fukin floor I bet he would let me go
home if I was w*$#% I’m not even goin
to say it lmao.”20

Importantly, none of the employee’s
coworkers responded to the posts on
Facebook expressing similar concerns.
Thus, the division concluded that the
posts were not intended to initiate group
action, nor were they the logical out-
growth of prior employee complaints.21

Accordingly, the division decided the
employee’s conduct on Facebook was
“just venting,” and therefore not pro-
tected concerted activity.22

These cases demonstrate that where
an employee is simply engaging in per-
sonal gripes in cyberspace, does not
call for group action, and/or the activi-
ty is not the logical outgrowth of prior
employee complaints, most likely the
NLRB will not deem the behavior as
being concerted activity. This approach
is a positive development for employ-
ers, as most employee postings are per-
sonal rants regarding their own
employment issues, and do not satisfy
the concerted activity standard. Hence,
disciplining employees for engaging in
such behavior will not likely violate
Section 7.

Is the Employee Engaged in Social
Media Activities “Protected” by the
NLRA?
As noted above, Section 7 of the

NLRA protects employees’ rights to
discuss their terms and conditions of
employment with their coworkers. Pro-
tected subjects include, but are not lim-
ited to, compensation, tips, health or
fringe benefits, work hours, health and
safety issues, disciplinary action and/or
other working conditions.
However, whether employees are

engaged in discussing “protected” sub-
jects under Section 7 is not always crys-
tal clear. For instance, while employees
have the right to discuss and even criti-
cize their coworkers’ or supervisors’ job
performance where it affects their terms
and conditions of employment,23 they

do not have an unfettered right to
protest an employer’s operations or the
quality of service the employer provides
where such concerns have only a tan-
gential relationship to employee terms
and conditions of employment.24

Additionally, while the NLRB gen-
erally holds that defamatory statements
are not protected by Section 7, a wide
range of statements made by employees
that are critical of the employer and its
management have been deemed protect-
ed under the NLRA. In determining
whether an employee’s statement is
protected by Section 7, the NLRB con-
siders the following four factors:

1. The place where the statement was
made;

2) The subject matter of the statement;
3. The nature of the employee’s com-
munication; and

4. Whether the employee’s statement
was, in any way, provoked by an
employer’s unfair labor practice.25

The NLRB has applied the foregoing
analysis to hold that an employee’s use
of profanity directed toward his or her
employer was protected activity
because the foul language was issued in
connection with an underlying griev-
ance or dispute.26 However, the NLRB
also has recognized that an employee’s
speech will lose its Section 7 protection
where the statements are found to be
disloyal or maliciously false (i.e., know-
ingly false or made with reckless disre-
gard for their truth or falsity).27

The foregoing principles were
applied by administrative law judges
(ALJ) in several recent social media
cases, including: Hispanics United of
Buffalo, Inc.28 and Karl Knauz Motors,
Inc., D/B/A Knauz BMW.29

In Hispanics United of Buffalo, Inc.
the NLRB filed a complaint against an
employer after it fired five employees
who criticized its service to the public,
as well as working conditions.30 Upon
hearing a coworker criticize other
employees for not doing enough to help
the organization’s clients, an employee
posted on Facebook, “Lydia Cruz, a
coworker feels that we don’t help our
clients enough at HUB I about had it!
My fellow coworkers how do u feel?”31

Four other employees responded to this
posting in defense of their job perfor-
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mances, and complained about the
staffing levels and their workloads.32

One employee responded, “What the
f…Try doing my job I have 5 pro-
grams.”33 Another commented, “[t]ell
her to come do my f…ing job…if I
don’t do enough, this is just dum.”34

In finding the employees’ termina-
tions unlawful, the ALJ found that the
employees engaged in “protected con-
certed activity,” even though they were
not trying to change, initiate or induce
group action about their working condi-
tion and did not communicate any of
their concerns to the employer.35 The
ALJ reasoned that although the first
post was about the employer’s service
to the public, not terms or conditions of
employment, the Facebook discussion
was the inception of concerted protect-
ed discussions among employees about
their working conditions. Accordingly,
he concluded that by firing the employ-
ees who participated in the discussion,
the employer unlawfully prevented fur-
ther discussion on the employees’ work-
ing conditions.36

The NLRB also examined an
employee’s Facebook postings, which
criticized his employer’s operations and
promotional event in Karl Knauz
Motors, Inc., D/B/A Knauz BMW.37

There, on his Facebook page, the
employee criticized the food served by
the dealership at its BMW event and
mocked an accident in which a cus-
tomer’s child test drove one of the
employer’s Land Rovers into a pond.38

As to the comments and pictures
critical of the food served at the event,
the postings stated in part, “but to top it
all off…the Hot Dog Cart. Where our
clients could attain an over cooked
wiener and a stale bunn…”39 Along with
the comment, the employee posted
numerous pictures of sales representa-
tives serving food to customers.40 One
picture contained the comment, “[n]o,
that’s not champagne or wine, its 8 oz.
water. Pop or soda would be out of the
question. In this photo, Fadwa [a
coworker] is seen coveting the rare vin-
tages of water that were available for
our guests.”41

The ALJ found the employee’s criti-
cal Facebook comments and pictures
regarding the event were protected con-
certed activity because they constituted
a continuation of concerns raised by

fellow coworkers during and after a
staff meeting.42 Further, and perhaps
more important, the employee’s com-
ments related to how the food presenta-
tion at the event would effect future
commissions, a term or condition of
employment, for the employee and his
coworker.43

The ALJ concluded the Facebook
conduct logically grew out of the prior
concerted activity of the employee and
a fellow coworker discussing the inade-
quacies of the food being served at the
event to management at a meeting prior
to the event, and their continued discus-
sions with each other about the food
after the meeting with management.44

In contrast, the ALJ found that the
employee’s mocking Facebook post-
ings and pictures regarding the Land
Rover accident were not protected,
because the employee made these post-
ings without any discussion amongst
his fellow employees, and they had no
connection to any of the employees’
terms and conditions of employment.45

Accordingly, as the ALJ found that the
employee was fired because of the
Land Rover Facebook postings, rather
than the event postings, it upheld the
employee’s termination.
These cases demonstrate that prior to

taking disciplinary action, employers
must carefully investigate the facts to
determine whether the employees’
social media postings involve terms and
conditions of employment or other pro-
tected subjects. If they involve the
employer’s operations or quality of ser-
vice and the line is blurry, employers
must carefully determine if the postings
are only tangentially related to terms
and conditions of employment. If so,
then the foregoing cases show the
employees can be disciplined for their
cyberspace activities.

Does the Employer’s Social Media
Policy Interfere With Its Employees’
Rights to Engage in “Protected
Concerted” Activities?
The NLRA provides that employers

cannot issue policies that prohibit or
otherwise infringe on its employees’
rights to discuss and/or compare their
wages or other benefits. Where the pol-
icy does so, it violates Section 7.
In Lafayette Park Hotel, the NLRB

clarified its standard for determining

whether policies regulating “employee
speech” are lawful.46 In doing so, the
NLRB tried to strike a balance between
the Section 7 rights of employees, and
employers’ legitimate business inter-
ests, by establishing a two-part test for
determining whether a policy unlawful-
ly restricts employee speech.
Pursuant to this test:

1. If the policy expressly restricts com-
munications protected by Section 7,
it is unlawful.

2. If the policy does not expressly
restrict Section 7 communications,
the NLRB will consider whether the
policy:
a. Could reasonably be construed by
employees to prohibit Section 7
activity;

b. Was promulgated in response to
union activity; or

c. Was applied so as to restrict the
exercise of Section 7 rights.47

The central inquiry of the Lafayette
Park Hotel test is whether the policy
actually prohibits, or could be reason-
ably understood to prohibit, communi-
cations protected by Section 7.
The NLRB, however, does recognize

an employer’s legitimate business inter-
est in regulating employee conduct for
purposes of maintaining order in the
workplace and facilitating the efficient
operation of its business. As a conse-
quence, the NLRB has also recognized
an employer’s right, if acting in further-
ance of its legitimate business interests,
to promulgate policies the restrict
“employee speech”—provided, howev-
er, that the types of statements the poli-
cies prohibit are not protected by Sec-
tion 7. As such, if the statements are
made to encourage the employer to
remedy problems in working conditions
and not to disparage its product or
undermine its reputation, the communi-
cations are protected.48

Over the past year, the NLRB has
applied these principles in social media
cases to hold an employer’s social
media policy improperly interfered with
its employees’ rights to engage in Sec-
tion 7 activities.49 In doing so, the
NLRB’s Division of Advice has found
social media policies as being over-
broad and thus illegal where the policy
improperly prohibits: “employees from
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using any social media (tweet, blog or
social networking page)” that “may in
any way violate, compromise, or disre-
gard…the rights and reasonable expec-
tations as to privacy or confidentiality
of any person or entity.”50 The division
has stated a rule that contains this lan-
guage infringes on employees’ Section
7 rights because it does not provide any
definition or guidance on what the
employer considers to be private or con-
fidential. Hence, the division concluded
this rule could be interpreted as pro-
hibiting employees from discussing
their wages and other terms and condi-
tions of employment.
In addition, the division found a rule

in a social media policy as overbroad
where it prohibited the use of social
media to post “any communication or
post which would be embarrassing,
harassing or defamatory to the employ-
er or its employees or that lacks truth-
fulness or which might cause or does
damage the reputation or goodwill of
the employer.”51 The NLRB has stated
that this rule was overbroad because it
could be applied to prohibit an employ-
ee from criticizing an employer’s labor
policies or treatment of its employees
that is considered protected activities
and failed to advise the employees that
the rule was not intended to interfere
with the employee’s Section 7 rights.
Finally, the board has found social

media policies that prohibit employees
from communicating with the press or
media to be overbroad because they are
broad enough to encompass labor dis-
putes. Such a prohibition is a violation
of Section 7 as well.52

These cases demonstrate that in
drafting social media policies employ-
ers must ensure their efforts to manage
their employees activities in cyberspace
do not infringe on its employees’ rights
to engage in protected concerted activi-
ties. Failing to do so can result in one’s
policy being deemed unlawful.

Looking Forward
In view of the NLRB’s recent social

media cases, it is evident that instituting
and policing one’s social media policy
can result in missteps. These cases,
however, demonstrate that social media
cases can be defended, especially where
employees are voicing personal com-
plaints. To enforce social media policies

and defend against inflammatory and
defamatory comments lawfully,
employers must ensure they are balanc-
ing their legitimate business interests
against their employees’ rights to
engage in protected concerted activities.
Where an employer fails to do so, the
NLRB has made clear it will hold the
employer liable for violating the
NLRA’s provisions. Fortunately, the
NLRB’s recent decisions provide a
valuable roadmap for employers to fol-
low in order to avoid being faced with
an NLRB charge. �

Endnotes
1. Report of the General Counsel,

NLRB Memorandum OM 11-74
(Aug. 18, 2011).

2. 29 U.S.C. §§ 151-169.
3. Section 7 of the NLRA provides:

[e]mployees shall have the right to
self-organization, to form, join or
assist labor organizations, to bar-
gain collectively through represen-
tatives of their own choosing, and
to engage in other concerted activi-
ties for the purpose of collective
bargaining or other mutual aid or
protection, and shall also have the
right to refrain from any or all of
such activities...

29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(1).
4. Lafayette Park Hotel, 326 NLRB

824 (1998).
5. Additionally, the NLRB will

inquire whether an employer’s
review of its employee’s social
media postings constitutes illegal
surveillance of or creates an
impression of surveillance which
would improperly interfere with its
employees’ rights to engage in
“protected concerted activities” in
violation of Section 7 of the
NLRA. An employer creates an
impression of illegal surveillance
when the employee would reason-
ably assume from the employer’s
statement that their union activities
had been placed under surveil-
lance. This test is met where the
employer reveals specific informa-
tion about a union activity that is
not generally known and does not
reveal its source. See MONOC,
2010 WL 6162573 (N.L.R.B.G.C.

May 5, 2010) (holding that the
employer did not engage in illegal
surveillance or create the impres-
sion that it had done so because it
made the employees aware that
their fellow employees had provid-
ed the Facebook postings and that
it did not solicit same.)

6. Myers Industries (Myers I), 268
NLRB 493 (1984); Myers Indus-
tries (Myers II), 281 NLRB 882
(1986).

7. Meyers II, at 886.
8. Id. at 887.
9. Id. at 884.
10. Id. at 885-87.
11. JT’s Porch Saloon & Eatery, Ltd.,

2011 WL 2960964, at *1
(N.L.R.B.G.C. July 7, 2011).

12. Id.
13. Id.
14. Id. at *2.
15. Sagepoint Financial, Inc., 2011

WL 3793672 at *2 (N.L.R.B.G.C.
Aug. 19, 2011).

16. Id.
17. Frito Lay, Inc., 2011 WL 4526828,

at *2 (N.L.R.B.G.C. Sept. 19,
2011).

18. Id.
19. Id.
20. Id.
21. Id.
22. Id.
23. See, e.g., Endicott Interconnect

Technologies, Inc., 453 F.3d 532
(D.C. Cir. 2006); The Korea News,
Inc., 297 NLRB 537, 538 (1990)
(holding that an employee was
unlawfully terminated after he
organized a series of meetings with
his coworkers to discuss pay, per-
sonnel and working conditions in
his department, and then sent a
petition to the employer indicating
that a supervisor in the department
treated them harshly and should be
discharged, because these activities
were protected by Section 7).

24. See, e.g. Five Star Transportation,
Inc., 349 NLRB 42, 44 (2007),
enforced, 414 F.3d 1249 (10th Cir.
2008) (holding bus drivers’ letters
to school district raising concerns
about students’ safety not protected
speech).

25. Atlantic Steel Co., 245 NLRB 814,
816 (1979).

26. See, e.g., Alcoa Inc., 352 NLRB



NEW JERSEY LABOR AND EMPLOYMENT LAW QUARTERLY, Vol. 33, No. 3 9

1222, 1234 (2008) (applying the
Atlantic Steel factors, the NLRB
found that an employee’s refer-
ence to his supervisor as an “ego-
tistical f..ker” at the conclusion of
a grievance meeting was protected
by Section 7); Winston-Salem
Journal, 341 NLRB 124, 126-27
(2004) (holding that an employee
was unlawfully suspended after
he called a supervisor “a racist”
and a “red-neck son-of-a-bitch,”
because the statements were made
after a meeting between the
employee and supervisor during
which the employee complained
that the supervisor was playing
favorites).

27. NLRB v. IBEW Local 1229 (Jeffer-
son Standard), 346 U.S. 464, 472
(1953).

28. Hispanics United of Buffalo, Inc. &
Carlos Ortiz an Individual, 3-CA-
27872, 2011 WL 3894520
(N.L.R.B. Div. of Judges Sept. 2,
2011).

29. See also, The Wedge Corp. d/b/a
The Rock Wood Fired Pizza and
Spirits, 2011 WL 4526829
(N.L.R.B.G.C. Sept. 19, 2011 (rul-
ing employee’s termination for

Facebook activity was not illegal
because complaints were about
quality of service rather than terms
and conditions of employment).

30. Hispanics United of Buffalo, Inc. &
Carlos Ortiz an Individual, 3-CA-
27872, 2011 WL 3894520
(N.L.R.B. Div. of Judges Sept. 2,
2011).

31. Id.
32. Id.
33. Id.
34. Id.
35. Id.
36. Id.
37. Karl Knauz Motors, Inc. d/b/a

Knauz BMW, 13-CA-46452, 2011
WL 4499437 (N.L.R.B. Div. of
Judges Sept. 28, 2011).

38. Id.
39. Id.
40. Id.
41. Id.
42. Id.
43. Id.
44. Id.
45. Id.
46. Lafayette Park Hotel, 326 NLRB

824 (1998).
47. Id. at 825; See also Lutheran Her-

itage Village, 343 NLRB 646 (2004).

48. See Valley Hospital Medical Cen-
ter, Inc., 351 NLRB 1250 (2007)
(overruling the termination of an
employee who publically ques-
tioned the employer’s staffing lev-
els and alleged that patient care was
being adversely affected).

49. Flagler Hospital, 12-CA-27031,
2011 WL 5115074 (N.L.R.B.G.C.
May 10, 2011); see also Karl
Knauz Motors, Inc. d/b/a Knauz
BMW, 2011 WL 4499437
(N.L.R.B. Div. of Judges Sept. 28,
2011).

50. Flagler Hospital, 2011 WL
5115074 at *2.

51. Id. at *3.
52. Crowne Plaza Hotel, 352 NLRB

382 (2008) (holding that a rule that
prohibits employees from exercis-
ing their Section 7 right to commu-
nicate with the media regarding a
labor dispute is unlawful).

Kenneth A. Rosenberg is a partner and
Todd A. Palo is an associate with the
labor and employment department of
Fox Rothschild LLP, where they practice
on the behalf of management. Adam R.
Roseman is a law student at Rutgers
Law School–Camden.

13. Burlington Northern and Santa Fe
Ry. Co. v. White, 548 U.S. 53
(2006).

14. Reynolds, 2011 WL 2938101, at
*2; see Haynes v. Level 3 Commu-
nications, LLC, 456 F.3d 1215,
1224-25 (10th Cir. 2006) (conclud-
ing that an employee’s placement
on a PIP was not an adverse
employment action upon which

Title VII, ADEA, and ADA claims
could be based, absent changes in
pay or responsibilities). 

15. Lehmann v. Toys ‘R’ Us, Inc., 132
N.J. 587, 600 (1993); see also Vis-
cik v. Fowler Equip. Co., 173 N.J.
1, 13-14 (2002). 

16. See Hendricks v. N.J. Dep’t of
Health & Senior Services, No. A-
4965-07T1, 2009 N.J. Super.
Unpub. LEXIS 1787, at *13-14
(N.J. App. Div. July 9, 2009) (hold-
ing under the LAD that unfavorable

performance reviews coupled with
significantly reduced and limited
work responsibility constituted
adverse action).

Steven M. Berlin is a partner of Mar-
tin Clearwater & Bell LLP, and chairs
its employment and labor practice
group. Danielle Rementer is a third-
year law student at Rutgers School of
Law–Camden.

PERFORMANCE
Continued from page 4



10 NEW JERSEY LABOR AND EMPLOYMENT LAW QUARTERLY, Vol. 33, No. 3

OSHA RESURGENT
THE AGENCY ADDRESSES WORKPLACE VIOLENCE, DISTRACTED DRIVING,

WHISTLEBLOWING AND SARBANES OXLEY

by Denise Keyser and student co-author Shazrae Mian

Relatively quiet during the eight
years of the Bush administration,
the Occupational Safety and
Health Administration (OSHA)
has been more active under
President Barack Obama.
Reflecting Washington’s current
employee-friendly atmosphere,
over the past year and a half,
OSHA has issued several sets of
guidance with the potential to
impact virtually every employer
across the country.  

This article will discuss the guide-
lines OSHA has issued on four subjects:
workplace violence, distracted driving,
whistleblowing, and Sarbanes Oxley.
Given that the agency expects to be
stepping up its enforcement efforts
despite the current budget stalemate in
Congress,1 employers are well advised
to become familiar with these pro-
nouncements and to take steps now to
protect themselves against potential
violations of the Occupational Safety
and Health Act of 1970 (OSH Act).2

Workplace Violence
On Sept. 8, 2011, OSHA issued a

directive on Enforcement Procedures
for Investigation of Workplace Violence
Incidents,3 which establishes uniform
procedures for OSHA’s field staff
responding to incidents of workplace
violence, and for conducting investiga-
tions in those industries considered
most vulnerable to the problem. The
directive is not the first time OSHA has
addressed this topic. In 2004, the
agency issued Guidelines for Prevent-
ing Workplace Violence in Health Care

and Social Service Workers,4 and in
2009, revisited the issue in its Recom-
mendations for Workplace Violence
Prevention Programs in Late-Night
Retail Establishments.5 The new direc-
tive is the first published instruction to
OSHA’s own personnel on how that ear-
lier guidance should be applied.
As evident from their titles, the prior

guidance addressed the three industries
research has shown to be especially sus-
ceptible to violence against workers.6

But the new directive does not limit
itself to those fields. Every employer
subject to OSHA7 has a “general duty”
to provide a workplace “free from rec-
ognized hazards.”8 The directive, there-
fore, advises OSHA field investigators,
in any workplace violence case, to
determine whether the employer “rec-
ognized, either individually or through
its industry, the existence of a potential
workplace violence hazard affecting his
or her employees.”9 OSHA investigators
“should focus on the availability to
employers of feasible means of prevent-
ing or minimizing such hazards.”10

Thus, under the “general duty clause,”
any employer who knew or should have
known of a potential for violence
against its workers risks violating the
OSH Act if there is a reasonable means
of reducing or eliminating that risk, and
the employer does not do so.
The directive identifies several fac-

tors that may increase the risk of work-
place violence. These include: working
with unstable or volatile persons; work-
ing alone or in small groups; working
late at night or in the early morning
hours; working in high-crime areas;
handling money; delivering passengers
or goods; and working at a mobile site.
Because these risk factors are often pre-

sent in the healthcare and social service
settings, and in late-night retail settings,
OSHA has identified these as high-risk
industries. 
The directive also establishes evi-

dentiary elements for a violation. First,
in determining whether a serious work-
place hazard exists, OSHA will look to
documents such as medical records of
workplace injuries, and police and secu-
rity records. Second, in assessing
whether there was employer or industry
recognition of risk, OSHA field investi-
gators may consider actions and reports
of business groups and trade associa-
tions, journal articles, OSHA publica-
tions and national consensus standards,
and the employer’s awareness of prior
incidents or “close calls” related to
workplace violence. Third, in assessing
whether an identified hazard either
caused or was likely to cause death or
serious physical harm, employee inter-
views, injury or illness logs, and police
reports may be used. Fourth, the pres-
ence of a feasible abatement method
may be established through expert opin-
ion or the use of a particular safety item
or process within the relevant industry.
OSHA has recommended both gen-

eral and industry-specific abatement
methods.11 Most important, the directive
outlines the need for, and the contents
of, a comprehensive workplace violence
prevention program, which should
include a hazard assessment and securi-
ty analysis, a recordkeeping system for
violent incidents, development of a
training program, and a response team.
The directive also suggests that busi-
nesses reduce employee exposure to
hazards through the use of engineering,
administrative and work practice con-
trols, such as requiring employees to
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report all assaults or threats, integrating
violence prevention strategies into daily
procedures, installing curved mirrors,
controlling facility access, using video
surveillance, requiring “drop safes” and
keeping only minimum amounts of cash
on hand, developing emergency proce-
dures, and installing a reliable alarm
and response system.  
It is important that employers, espe-

cially in the targeted fields of health-
care, social work and late-night retail,
assess their workplaces’ potential for
violence and take steps now to reduce
or eliminate those risks. Failure to do so
before OSHA’s enforcement efforts get
fully underway may result in significant
liability down the road.12

Distracted Driving
On Oct. 4, 2010, again acting under

the general duty clause, OSHA
announced its Distracted Driving Ini-
tiative, aimed at workers who text while
driving.13 On this point, one might say
OSHA is late to the party. Thirty states
have already prohibited this action,14

while an executive order and Depart-
ment of Transportation rules now pro-
hibit federal employees and bus, truck
and train operators from doing so.15 As
virtually anyone who has ever driven a
car can attest, texting while driving is
unquestionably dangerous. Statistics
show that this practice is nearly univer-
sal as well.16 Yet, with its initiative,
OSHA has placed the burden to stop
this dangerous habit among those who
drive for a living squarely on the shoul-
ders of employers—who, needless to
say, are not doing either the driving or
the texting—rather than the employees
themselves.
Businesses who employ workers

who drive for at least part of their duties
now must maintain clear and unequivo-
cal policies against texting while dri-
ving. And more is required; mere words
are not enough. OSHA warns that “[i]t
is imperative that employers eliminate
the financial or other incentives that
encourage workers to text while dri-
ving.”17 In other words, employers may
not turn a blind eye to a practice many
employees and/or their managers
believe increases productivity, efficien-
cy or client service (assuming workers
are engaging in work-related texting
while driving and working, not merely

checking Facebook or handling person-
al matters).  

Whistleblower Investigations Manual
On Sept. 20, 2011, OSHA released

its revised Whistleblower Investigation
Manual, addressing procedures for han-
dling retaliation complaints under the
21 statutes (including the OSH Act)
whose “whistleblower” provisions
OSHA enforces.18 The new manual
reflects OSHA’s efforts19 to restructure
its Whistleblowers Protection Program
by increasing the quality and consisten-
cy of the agency’s investigations. 
The manual implements procedural

changes, which, while making it easier
for employees to file complaints, also
significantly increase the burden on
employers defending investigations. For
example, the manual provides guidance
on handling uncooperative respondents
and OSHA’s administrative subpoena
authority, and clarifies that complaints
may be filed in any language either
orally, in writing, or electronically on
OSHA’s Whistleblower Protection Pro-
gram website. Additionally, investiga-
tors now also must attempt to interview
the complainant in all cases, and pro-
vide the complainant, upon request,
with the respondent’s submissions, in
accordance with confidentiality laws.20

Interim Rule for SOX 
Whistleblower Cases 
Finally, on Nov. 3, 2011, OSHA

issued an interim21 rule amending the
regulations governing the whistleblow-
er provision of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
(SOX). The rule implements the statuto-
ry amendments to SOX made by the
2010 Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform
and Consumer Protection Act.22 The
amendments include: 1) adding protec-
tion for employees from retaliation by
nationally organized statistical national
organizations; 2) doubling the filing
period for whistleblower complaints
from 90 to 180 days; 3) forbidding the
waiver of whistleblower protection
rights and remedies, including by pre-
dispute arbitration agreements; 4)
allowing OSHA to choose, on a case-
by-case basis, whether actual reinstate-
ment or “economic reinstatement” (i.e.,
back pay and benefits) should be pur-
sued; and 5) clarifying that the compa-
nies subject to SOX’s whistleblower

provision include subsidiaries and affil-
iates of the companies registered under
Section 12 of the Securities and
Exchange Act.23

Practical Tips
Against the backdrop of a reinvigo-

rated OSHA, businesses should take
steps now to limit the potential down-
side of a complaint or investigation.
These include: 

Workplace Violence
Every employer should assess its

workplace for the potential of a violent
incident that may endanger the health
and safety of its workers, and take
action now to minimize or eliminate
those risks wherever possible. Those
employers operating in identified high-
risk industries, and those who have had
prior problems with workplace vio-
lence, should be especially diligent, and
may wish to retain a safety consultant to
help determine what “feasible” means
exist to better manage their risk. All
employers should also keep abreast of
developments in their industries with
respect to the prevalence of workplace
violence, and with respect to accepted
means of prevention.

Distracted Driving
Businesses that employ workers who

drive for at least part of their workday
should implement, publicize and strict-
ly enforce a policy against texting while
driving. Although OSHA has not yet
addressed cell phone use while driving,
it is not unreasonable to assume that it
eventually will turn to this topic as well.
Proactive employers should address that
issue now as part of a general distracted
driving initiative.  

Whistleblowing
Because OSHA can—and thus is

expected to—be more aggressive in
enforcing whistleblower rights under
the procedural changes effected by the
new manual and the SOX interim rule,
employers who already have internal
whistleblowing complaint procedures
should insure that they are well known
to the workforce, and effective.
Employers who do not yet have such
internal policies should consider imple-

See OSHA on page 14
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On Sept. 6, 2011, the New Jersey
Department of Labor and Workforce
Development (NJDOL) promulgated
new regulations,1 which brought New
Jersey’s standard for overtime exemp-
tions for bona fide executive, adminis-
trative, professional and outside sales
employees in line with the federal tests.2

Prior to the passage of these new regu-
lations, New Jersey’s standard for over-
time exemption was more protective of
employees than the federal standard.
With these new regulations, which
adopted by reference the federal stan-
dard codified in 29 C.F.R. Part 541,
NJDOL raised the minimum threshold
for exemption and abandoned the quan-
titative element of the duties test that
has long been seen both within and out-
side of New Jersey as a confusing and
outdated method of assessing the pri-
mary duties of employees.
Although the new regulations still

contain some discrepancies between the
federal and New Jersey standards, over-
all they should make both compliance
to and enforcement of the overtime
exemption easier for employers.

Discrepancies Between the Federal
and New Jersey’s Former Overtime
Exemption Standards
Under New Jersey’s minimum wage

law, employers in New Jersey are
required to pay overtime wages to
employees who work more than 40
hours per week unless the employer
establishes the right to an exemption
from the “overtime” obligation.3 Prior
to adopting the federal regulations at 29
C.F.R. Part 541 (defining the exemp-
tions for bona fide executive, adminis-
trative, professional and outside sales
employees) under the federal Fair Labor
Standards Act (FLSA),4 New Jersey’s
exemptions and the FLSA exemptions
differed in several significant ways.
First, New Jersey had a minimum salary

requirement of $400. In addition, New
Jersey required an employee to perform
exempt work 80 percent of the time.
New Jersey also had a stricter duties test
for the administrative exemption,
requiring not only that the employee
exercise discretion and independent
judgment, but also that the employee: 1)
regularly assist the owner or an admin-
istrative or executive employee; 2) per-
form specialized or technical work
under generalized supervision; or 3)
execute special assignments under gen-
eral supervision. New Jersey also
imposed stricter requirements on the
type of work to be performed to satisfy
either the learned or professional
exemption.
Accordingly, New Jersey employers

were faced with a two-tiered approach
to determining exemptions, with the
stricter of the two regulations applying.5

New Jersey’s Adoption of the 
Federal Tests
The Secretary of the Department of

Labor (DOL) originally published Part
541 in 1949 as the regulatory interpreta-
tion of the FLSA. In 2004, DOL intro-
duced amendments to Part 541 in order
to reinforce the overtime protections of
American employees that were signifi-
cantly eroded by the changes in the
economy and lifestyles of Americans
over 50 years.6 The amendments revised
the federal overtime rules substantially.
For example, the amendments raised
the threshold salary requirement from
$155 per week to $455 per week,7 elim-
inated the special rules for exemption
applicable to “sole charge” executives,
and added the language that clarifies
that the FLSA provides minimum stan-
dards that may be exceeded but cannot
be waived or reduced.8

Besides the changes listed above, the
amendments to Part 541 also simplified
the primary duties test, which was used

to assess the nature of the employee’s
job, by adopting a single standard. Prior
to the amendments, Part 541 provided
two different tests depending on the
employee’s salary. For those employees
whose earnings were between $155 and
$250 per week, the so-called “long” test
applied. Under this test, strict percent-
age limitations were imposed on nonex-
empt work.9 Such limitations required
employers to conduct a detailed analy-
sis of the substance of each particular
employee’s daily and weekly tasks in
order to determine the applicability of
the exemption to the employee. On the
other hand, under the “short” test,
which applied to those employees
whose earnings were more than $250
per week, there was no quantitative
requirement; instead, the test only
required that the employee’s primary
duty was management and he or she
regularly directed the work of at least
two other employees.10

The new regulations that NJDOL
recently promulgated made New Jer-
sey’s standard for overtime exemptions
almost identical to the federal standard
by adopting by reference the entirety
(except those provisions applying sole-
ly to employees of the government and
other governmental agencies) of the
amended Part 541.11

While the new regulations are
expected to lessen the confusion
between employers and employees by
creating consistency between the feder-
al and New Jersey standards, the overall
changes that the new regulations would
bring to the employers’ table may not be
so drastic.
First, the New Jersey regulations had

a minimum salary threshold of $400—
much higher than the old federal stan-
dard of $155 until the amendments to
Part 541 were introduced in 2004. In
other words, the amendments to Part
541 of 2004, in a sense, reduced the dis-

WHAT’S NEW ABOUT THE NEW JERSEY 
WAGE AND HOUR REGULATIONS?

by Anne Ciesla Bancroft and student co-author Nobumasa Hiroi
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crepancies between the federal and New
Jersey overtime regulations. Although
the $55 difference could exempt more
employees in New Jersey, relatively
speaking the change would be milder
compared to other states where the
threshold used to be $155.
Second, although NJDOL legisla-

tively abandoned its quantitative ele-
ment of the management duties test by
adopting Part 541 and repealing its old
regulations, the Appellate Division
already had modified the strict and
unwieldy quantitative approach in Marx
v. Friendly Ice Cream Corporation12 by
instead accepting the employer’s expec-
tation in assessing the primary duty of
managerial employees.
Two other employer-friendly

changes are noteworthy. New Jersey has
now adopted the FLSA “highly com-
pensated employee” exemption, which
exempts an employee with total annual
compensation of at least $100,000 if the
employee customarily and regularly
performs any one or more of the exempt
duties or responsibilities of an execu-
tive, administrative or professional
employee.13 Second, New Jersey now
provides its employers with a safe har-
bor if they inadvertently make an
impermissible deduction from the
salary of an exempt employee, thus oth-
erwise defeating the exemption. Specif-
ically, if an employer has a clearly com-
municated policy that prohibits the
improper pay deductions and includes a
complaint mechanism, reimburses
employees for any improper deductions
and makes a good faith commitment to
comply in the future, the employer will
not lose the exemption for any employ-
ees unless the employer willfully vio-
lates the policy by continuing to make
improper deductions after receiving
employee complaints.14

Quantitative Test After Marx
While the new New Jersey regula-

tions officially eliminated the prior
quantitative test for analyzing the per-
formance of exempt and non-exempt
work, the court in Marx15 already
looked to the FLSA primary duty exec-
utive exemption test, and cases inter-
preting it, in applying New Jersey’s for-
mer executive exemption. In Marx, a
New Jersey court applied N.J.A.C.
12:56-7.1 (prior to the amendments of

Sept. 6, 2011) for the first time.16 Five
general managers of restaurants owned
by Friendly Ice Cream Corporation
(FICC) sued FICC seeking overtime
payments. The trial court concluded
that they were employed in an “execu-
tive capacity” within the meaning of
N.J.A.C. 12:56-7.1, and thus ineligible
for overtime.17

Upon appeal, the Appellate Division
held that an employer may comply with
the former New Jersey overtime regula-
tion by demonstrating the following:

[P]roper performance of expected
managerial duties reasonably requires
devotion of more than 60 percent of
the employee’s workweek; and the
staffing levels in the unit are based on
criteria adequate to meet the demands
without assistance of the exempt man-
agerial employees that takes more
than 40 percent of their time.18

In so doing, the Appellate Division
relied upon judicial decisions applying
the FLSA regulations, which, the court
noted, were in many instances identical
to the N.J.A.C. 12:56-7.1.19

The only differences between the fed-
eral and New Jersey standards, according
to the court’s observation, were the min-
imum threshold for the salary test and
the quantitative element of the manage-
ment duties test required under the New
Jersey standard.20 In reviewing the quan-
titative element of the management
duties test, the court noted the fact that
the amended federal regulations, 29
C.F.R. §541.1 (as amended effective
Aug. 23, 2004), no longer required a
time-percentage analysis of non-exempt
activities for employees.21 The court also
looked at a Supreme Court of Califor-
nia’s opinion regarding the problems
inherent in a “quantitative” review of
exempt and non-exempt work.22

The court then concluded that requir-
ing employers to establish proof in the
form of a moment-to-moment analysis
of an employee’s workweek only to
meet the quantitative requirement is
overly burdensome, and thus should not
be the intention of the commissioner.23

Instead, the court followed the Califor-
nia court’s analysis that incorporated
both the realistic basis for the employ-
er’s job description and the employee’s
fulfillment of the employer’s reasonable

expectations.24 The court then held that
FICC’s expectation for its general man-
agers to devote less than 40 percent of
their workweek to non-exempt work
was reasonable.25

Although in the holding the court
referred to specific percentages, in
effect, the court diminished the quanti-
tative test by incorporating the employ-
er’s expectations of what job duties the
managerial employee was to perform.
That is to say, under Marx, New Jersey
employers no longer needed to worry
about the actual time employees spend
on non-exempt work in order to meet
the exemption requirement provided the
employers’ expectation of how much
time the employees were to spend on
such work was reasonable. This conclu-
sion was confirmed two years later in
Golden v. Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc.26

Facing an overtime claim under
N.J.A.C. 12:56-7.1, the Southern Dis-
trict Court of New York applied Marx
and stated that compliance with New
Jersey’s quantitative requirement can be
met “where the realistic requirements of
the job demand that no more than 20%
of the employee’s time be spent on non-
exempt duties, even if the employee
actually performed such duties a greater
percentage of the time.”27

New Jersey’s Inside Sales Exemption
There is an unintended discrepancy

between the federal and New Jersey
standards caused by the adoption of Part
541. By adopting Part 541 and repeal-
ing the prior regulations for overtime
exemptions, NJDOL also eliminated the
“inside sales” exemption that exempted
from overtime any employee whose pri-
mary duty consists of sales activity, and
who receives a regular weekly rate of
pay of at least $400 and at least half of
his or her compensation from commis-
sions. To rectify this error, NJDOL pub-
lished on Nov. 21, 2011, a proposed
amendment to N.J.A.C. 12:56-7.2 to
restore the “inside sales” exemption.28

NJDOL conducted a public hearing on
Dec. 13, 2011. The final regulations are
currently pending.

Conclusion
The changes to the New Jersey

exemptions favor employers by eliminat-
ing a two-tiered approach; accepting the
“primary duty” test already essentially
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recognized by the court in Marx; adding
an exemption for “highly compensated”
employees; and, creating a safe harbor
for inadvertent impermissible deductions
from the pay of salaried employees.
While the amendment inadvertently
eliminated the inside sales employee
exemption, that exemption should be
restored. While these changes in general
benefit employers, they still need to audit
their workforce and ensure that employ-
ees are classified properly to avoid
claims for unpaid overtime to employees
who are improperly treated as exempt. �
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menting them. Far better for an employ-
er to field—and hopefully resolve—an
internal complaint, than to have that
employee turn to OSHA for redress. �
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On Sept. 15, 2011, U.S. Magistrate
Judge Michael Shipp signed a consent
decree settling United States v. State of
New Jersey.1 In that case, the United
States Justice Department’s Civil Rights
Division (DOJ) charged that since 2000
the New Jersey Civil Service Commis-
sion (NJCSC) maintained selection pro-
cedures for promotion to the rank of
police sergeant that had a disparate
impact on Hispanic and African-Ameri-
can candidates.2 This article examines
the unusually speedy resolution of that
case when compared to a similar case
filed against the city of New York in
2007, challenging the New York City
Fire Department’s hiring practices.
In United States v. State of New Jer-

sey, the Justice Department claimed that
the written exam administered by the
NJCSC for the police sergeant position is
neither job-related nor consistent with
business necessity.3 According to the
complaint filed by the Justice Depart-
ment, between 2000 and 2008 approxi-
mately 89 percent of the white candidates
who took the written exam passed it,
while only 73 and 77 percent of African-
American and Hispanic applicants,
respectively, passed the exam.4 The com-
plaint further charged that among candi-
dates who passed the written exam,
African-Americans and Hispanics were
underrepresented in higher score ranges
and overrepresented in lower score
ranges for each year between 2000 and
2008.5 The specific scores are significant
because the NJCSC keeps eligibility lists
on which it ranks candidates for promo-
tion to police sergeant based, in part, on a
candidate’s written score. The NJCSC
certifies candidates in descending rank
order from such eligibility lists.6

The complaint further charged that in
jurisdictions where the NJCSC estab-
lished eligibility lists that contained white

candidates and African-American or His-
panic candidates, the latter were less like-
ly to be ranked sufficiently high to be
placed on a certification list, and there-
fore considered for promotion, than were
white candidates.7 According to the com-
plaint, between 2000 and 2008 35 per-
cent of white candidates on the eligible
lists in those jurisdictions were certified
for promotion, while only 20 percent of
African-Americans and 22 percent of
Hispanics were similarly certified.8

Rather than engage in lengthy and
burdensome discovery and motion prac-
tice, on May 19, 2011, just over one
year after the state answered the com-
plaint, and six full months before the
discovery deadline, the parties advised
the court that they had reached a settle-
ment in principle.9 On Nov. 2 and 22,
2011, respectively, District Court Judge
Katharine S. Hayden approved a first
and second amended consent decree.10

The second amended consent decree
provides, among other things, that:

The State will no longer use the
police sergeant’s written exam as cur-
rently constituted;

The State will cease using current
eligibility lists as part of its selection
procedure for police sergeants in cer-
tain jurisdictions within the state where
continued use of the lists will create an
additional shortfall of African-Ameri-
cans and Hispanics who would have
been promoted but for the State’s use
of the challenged exam;

The State will designate a person
who will be responsible for enforcing
the Consent Decree;

The State will pay $1,000,000 into
a settlement fund for the purpose of
awarding backpay to eligible African-
American and Hispanic claimants;

The State will certify 68 claimants
eligible for priority promotion with
retroactive seniority;

In consultation with DOJ, the
State will develop and administer a
new selection procedure to select
qualified candidates for promotion to
the position of police sergeant; and

The Consent Decree will be in
place no longer than three years.11

The relief afforded in the consent
decree is significant and far reaching. It
is particularly significant that the state
consented to such far-reaching relief, and
to the sort of intense oversight and scruti-
ny of its promotion practices for which
the consent decree provides, without any
motion practice and without any litiga-
tion concerning the issue of liability.
A review of the docket in this case

also reveals no documented discovery
disputes, no adjournments of the dis-
covery deadline, and only a handful of
brief adjournment requests. Moreover,
it appears from reviewing the docket, as
well as from a review of the correspon-
dence exchanged by the parties and
filed with the court, that the parties
were able to work cooperatively
throughout this litigation in order to
achieve a mutually agreeable result.
The procedural history and conduct

of this case stands in stark contrast to a
similar lawsuit commenced in the
 Eastern District of New York by the
Department of Justice against the city of
New York and the city’s fire department.
The Justice Department commenced that
action, United States of America v. City
of New York,12 on May 21, 2007, by filing
a complaint alleging that the city of New
York’s pass/fail and rank order uses of
written examinations to hire entry-level
firefighters had an unlawful disparate
impact on black and Hispanic appli-
cants.13 The parties are still fiercely liti-
gating that case, and the court has issued
two adverse rulings on liability against
the city.14 The case has already cost the

STATE OF NEW JERSEY QUICKLY SETTLES
DISPARATE IMPACT LAWSUIT REGARDING
POLICE SERGEANT’S PROMOTION EXAM

by Iván A. Méndez Jr.
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city a significant amount of money to
defend, has resulted in a slew of bad
press for the city and its leaders, and has
spawned several harsh and tersely word-
ed opinions from the presiding judge, the
Honorable Nicholas Garaufis.
In his most recent significant deci-

sion in the case, a draft remedial order
dated Oct. 5, 2011, Judge Garaufis
excoriated the city for its litigation
approach, and for what he viewed as the
city’s inability or unwillingness to work
with the Justice Department to address
the court’s findings concerning liability:

Today-four years of litigation and
two adverse liability rulings later-the
City still doesn’t get it. In testimony
and depositions in this case, the City’s
senior leaders have routinely denied
that they are responsible for doing
anything to remedy nearly forty years
of discrimination. Throughout this lit-
igation City officials have routinely
disclaimed accountability for the
City’s failures, shifting blame to
offices, bureaus, divisions, and depart-
ments that lie outside the scope of
their narrow parochial concerns.

This litigation could have turned
out much differently. Had the City’s
leadership shown the least bit of con-
cern for the effect of the court’s lia-
bility rulings, had the City demon-
strated by word and deed an intention
to use this litigation as an opportunity
to reconsider and reevaluate hiring
practices and procedures that have
illegally excluded black and Hispanic
firefighter candidates for nearly forty
years, this would be a much different
order. Instead, the court’s assessment
of the evidence, including the testi-
mony of senior City officials, reveals
a pervasive disregard-an absolute
rejection—of the court’s conclusions.
Lacking from the City’s response to
this litigation is an attitude of volun-
tary compliance and any indication
that its leaders have the will to carry
out a program of reform to prevent
future violations of the equal employ-
ment opportunity laws at the New
York City Fire Department.15

This case, which has not even yet
reached the appeals process, will likely
be litigated for several more years, and
will likely end up costing the taxpayers
of the city of New York millions of dol-
lars. Judge Garaufis has appointed a
court monitor to oversee the city’s
development of a new exam, and to

oversee the city’s recruitment and hiring
efforts. Notably, the court has stated
that it will retain jurisdiction over this
matter for 10 years.16

It is unclear why the state of New
Jersey chose such a drastically different
litigation approach. It would be fair to
surmise that New Jersey, like other
states and municipalities, has been
tracking the progress of United States v.
City of New York, given that this case
has been one of the highest profile dis-
parate impact cases in recent memory. It
is also possible that the state was moti-
vated by the district court’s decision in
NAACP v. North Hudson Regional Fire
& Rescue,17 which the June 2011 edition
of this publication addressed.18

In the North Hudson case, the court
granted the plaintiffs’ summary judg-
ment motion, finding that the defen-
dants’ residency requirements had a dis-
parate impact on African-American
applicants to firefighter positions. In
granting summary judgment to the
plaintiffs, the court, among other things,
permanently enjoined the defendants
from using its current list of firefighter
candidates, and froze the defendants’
hiring until they obtained a candidate
list that included candidates from three
counties that had previously been
excluded.19 The Third Circuit affirmed
the district court’s decision in its entire-
ty on Dec. 12, 2011.20

What is clear is that the approach tak-
en by New Jersey likely saved the state a
substantial amount of money in litiga-
tion expenses and other associated costs,
and greatly reduced the amount of nega-
tive press the state would have otherwise
received. While the city of New York,
North Hudson, and state of New Jersey
cases are not one and the same, the con-
trasts of the defendants’ approaches to
litigating these cases are significant.
Employers faced with disparate

impact litigation, particularly municipal
employers, should be mindful of the
high cost of defending disparate impact
litigation. The cost of defending such
cases generally includes the hiring of
expert statisticians, the potential cost of
backpay for large numbers of employ-
ees, the cost of consultants to develop
new tests or other selection criteria, and
significant attorney’s fees. The lesson of
these cases is that employers faced with
potential disparate impact litigation

should determine at an early stage of a
case whether to work toward a negotiat-
ed resolution prior to incurring signifi-
cant costs. �
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Attorney Gregory Meditz, moving as
a pro se plaintiff, recently received the
ruling he was seeking from the Third
Circuit Court of Appeals. Meditz, who
is a white male, brought a claim involv-
ing reverse discrimination against the
city of Newark. He sued Newark
because he believed that its residency
requirement had a disparate impact
against him as a white, non-Hispanic, in
seeking employment with the city,
because Newark’s population did not
mirror the racial composition of the rel-
evant labor market in the surrounding
area.1 In other words, according to
Meditz, whites were under-represented
in Newark’s non-uniformed work force
because of its residency policy.2

In Meditz v. City of Newark, the issue
was whether Newark’s residency
requirement for its non-uniformed work
force had a disparate impact on white,
non-Hispanics and, thus, gave rise to a
Title VII disparate impact claim.3 While
the United States District Court for the
District of New Jersey initially granted
summary judgment in favor of Newark
with respect to all of Meditz’s claims,
the appeals court held that the grant of
summary judgment was not appropriate
with regard to his disparate impact
claim.4

Meditz, who lived in Rutherford,
applied for the non-uniformed position
of housing development analyst in
Newark. Unfortunately for Meditz,
Newark had a residency requirement for
the city’s non-uniformed employees.5

The city rejected his application
because he did not live there.6

Under Title VII of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964, in order for Meditz to be
successful on his disparate impact
claim, he had to demonstrate initially
that Newark used a particular employ-
ment practice that caused a disparate

impact on the basis of race.7 The dispar-
ity must be significant8—a proper statis-
tical analysis must be based upon a
comparison “between the racial compo-
sition of [the at-issue jobs] and the
racial composition of the
qualified...population in the relevant
labor market” seeking those jobs.9

Newark could then overcome that
showing by proving that a “business
necessity” existed. The business neces-
sity defense involves a “manifest rela-
tionship between the policy and job per-
formance.”10 However, Meditz could
still overcome the city’s proffered busi-
ness necessity defense by demonstrat-
ing that an alternative policy existed
that would aid Newark’s employment
goals and the policy at issue with less of
a discriminatory effect.11

In the district court, Newark brought
a motion for summary judgment in an
attempt to dismiss Meditz’s claims.
Meditz argued that the residency
requirement for non-uniformed
employees was negatively impacting
the hiring of white, non-Hispanics. In
support of this argument, he proffered
statistical information comparing the
ethnic distribution of non-uniformed
employees to the ethnic makeup of
Newark.12 The city argued that the sta-
tistics were not sufficient to demon-
strate that the residency requirement
caused whites to be excluded from jobs
with it as a result of their race.13

However, Meditz also argued that
Newark was not the relevant labor mar-
ket at issue, but that the relevant labor
market, in fact, included the six-county
region surrounding the city.14 He then
provided statistics demonstrating the
ethnic breakdown of the general popu-
lations in those counties, each of which
included a higher percentage of whites
than the percentage hired as non-uni-

formed employees in Newark.15 He fur-
ther demonstrated that the percentage of
whites in government positions and in
the private labor force within each of
those surrounding counties greatly
exceeded the number of whites in
Newark’s non-uniformed work force.16

Finally, Meditz revealed that the Essex
County government, which is located in
Newark, employed a higher percentage
of whites than the city of Newark
employed.17 These statistics enabled
Meditz to posit that the residency
requirement caused Newark to employ
a lower percentage of white, non-uni-
formed employees.18

Nevertheless, the district court grant-
ed Newark’s motion for summary judg-
ment. It concluded that because the city
was large and diverse, the relevant labor
market was Newark itself, and Meditz’s
statistics were insufficient to maintain a
reverse-discrimination, disparate
impact claim.19 It held that the differ-
ence between the percentage of whites
employed by Newark (9.24 percent) and
the percentage of whites living within
Newark (14.2 percent) did “not consti-
tute sufficient evidence of a significant-
ly discriminatory hiring pattern.”20

The Third Circuit Court of Appeals
disagreed with and rejected the district
court’s analysis. The appeals court
found that Meditz’s statistical evidence
was appropriate and supported his dis-
parate impact claim.21 In fact, the differ-
ence between the percentage of whites
hired by Newark and the percentage of
whites within the Newark labor market
was slightly over six standard devia-
tions. The court noted that only a differ-
ence of two or three standard deviations
is necessary to demonstrate a prima
facie disparate impact case.22 Thus, the
court held that Meditz had established a
prima facie disparate impact claim.23

THIRD CIRCUIT OUTLINES APPLICABLE
STANDARD FOR RESIDENCY REQUIREMENT,

DISPARATE IMPACT CASE

by R. Shane Kagan
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In addition, the Third Circuit did not
accept the district court’s finding that
the city’s boundaries were necessarily
the relevant labor market, and criticized
the lower court for failing to address the
essential factors in determining the rel-
evant labor market. The Third Circuit
held that in determining the relevant
labor market, a court must consider
geographical location, the flow of trans-
portation facilities, locations from
which private employers draw their
work force, and commuting patterns.24

The Third Circuit also noted that
“[s]ince the enactment of the Civil
Rights Act of 1991,” it had not had “the
occasion to consider the business neces-
sity defense in a case involving a chal-
lenge to an employment related residen-
cy requirement.”25 The appeals court
recognized that it had previously con-
sidered “the evolution” of the “business
necessity” defense, and disagreed with
the district court that Newark had met
the requirements necessary to establish
it.26 According to the appeals court, the
lower court failed to apply the proper
test, and should have considered
whether Newark’s hiring criteria “effec-
tively measure[d] the minimum qualifi-
cations for successful performance of
the job in question.”27

As a result, the Third Circuit
remanded the matter so the district
court could properly determine the rele-
vant labor market, and so it could con-
duct a complete statistical analysis
between Newark’s employed, non-uni-
formed labor force and the same labor
force in the relevant labor market.28

For labor and employment law attor-
neys representing plaintiffs or defen-
dants, this case is significant in several
aspects. Initially, the Third Circuit
Court of Appeals implicitly acknowl-
edged the vitality of reverse-discrimina-
tion claims in the context of a Title VII
disparate impact analysis. This holding
comes down in the wake of Ricci v.
DeStefano, where the United States
Supreme Court found that the defendant
engaged in disparate treatment in viola-
tion of Title VII, and held that before an
employer could intentionally deny
white firefighters promotions “for the
asserted purpose of avoiding or remedy-
ing an unintentional disparate impact,
the employer must have a strong basis
in evidence to believe it will be subject

to disparate-impact liability” if it does
not take the discriminatory action.29

More practically, this case clarified
and defined the applicable standards for
disparate impact claims within the con-
text of residency requirements. The
Third Circuit underscored the impor-
tance of determining the relevant labor
market utilizing the appropriate factors.
It likewise reaffirmed the necessity for a
motion judge to conduct a proper statis-
tical analysis to decide whether a “sig-
nificant” disparity exists, and acknowl-
edged that a difference of two or three
standard deviations may indeed be “sig-
nificant.” The Third Circuit also ana-
lyzed the types of statistical evidence
proffered by Meditz and, therefore, pro-
vided direction to attorneys with regard
to the relevant evidence necessary to
substantiate or undermine future dis-
parate impact claims in similar con-
texts. 
Finally, in a case of first impression,

the appeals court clearly articulated the
standard an employer must meet in
order to maintain a business necessity
defense vis-à-vis a city’s residency
requirement. In admonishing the district
court for its “bald conclusion” that sum-
mary judgment was appropriate on
Meditz’s disparate impact claim, the
Third Circuit seemingly made it more
difficult for an employer to make a suc-
cessful application to dismiss a Title VII
disparate impact claim as a matter of
law. 
While an employer may have an

opportunity to dismiss such a claim by
demonstrating a business necessity
exists for its employment practice, the
appeals court noted that the lower court
“focused only on whether the business
justifications offered by Newark had
any connection to the residency policy
even if unrelated to Meditz’s ability to
perform the job in question.”30 The
Third Circuit suggested that for an
employer to dismiss successfully a dis-
parate impact claim on summary judg-
ment under a business necessity
defense, it needed to engage in a more
sophisticated analysis addressing actual
business necessity and not merely
“business convenience.”31 Thus, a
motion judge must also consider
whether an employer’s hiring policy
“effectively measure[s] the minimum
qualifications” necessary for perform-

ing the job.32

The Third Circuit recently reiterated
this standard in National Association
for the Advancement of Colored People
v. North Hudson Regional Fire & Res-
cue in stating “we have interpreted the
business-necessity defense to apply
only when an employer can show that
its challenged hiring criteria define min-
imum qualifications for the position.”33

In this case, employer-Newark could
not deny that the county of Essex,
which is an employer similar to the city
of Newark, had an office in Newark but
did not need to require its employees to
reside within the city.34 Further, the
available statistics did not aid the city of
Newark’s motion for summary judg-
ment. A comparison of the percentage
of white, government employees in
Essex County, the county encompassing
Newark, with the percentage of white,
government workers employed by
Newark, resulted in a difference of over
34 standard deviations.35 In other words,
the evidence here may well suggest that
the city itself is not the relevant labor
market, and that the percentage of
white, non-uniformed employees
employed by the city are under-repre-
sented with respect to the actual rele-
vant labor market. 
When a plaintiff has demonstrated

such a prima facie, residency require-
ment disparate impact claim, it is not
enough for the employer to prove that
certain business justifications had a
connection to the residency require-
ment. It must show that the residency
requirement, in fact, defines the mini-
mum qualifications for the job at issue.
Even if an employer does successfully
proffer a business necessity defense, the
employer’s policy must then still with-
stand the plaintiff’s rebuttal argument
that an alternative policy is possible that
would have less of a discriminatory
effect. Thus, an employer who utilizes
or maintains a residency requirement
must make certain it is necessary and
not simply convenient. �
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In Nov. 2011, the New Jersey
Department of Labor issued a $1,000
fine against Crestek, Inc., a New Jersey-
based manufacturer of ultrasonic clean-
ing equipment, for publishing an adver-
tisement for a sales manager job that
stated that candidates for the job “must
be currently employed.”1 Crestek is the
first—and, to the authors’ knowledge,
the only—New Jersey employer to
receive a fine for violating New Jersey’s
recently enacted law prohibiting job
postings that state that unemployed can-
didates will not be considered.2 Gover-
nor Chris Christie signed the act into
law on March 29, 2011, and it became
effective on June 1, 2011.3

By this enactment, New Jersey
became the first state to prohibit dis-
crimination against the unemployed in
the form of exclusionary advertising.4

The Law
The act, codified at N.J.S.A. 34:8B-

1 – 34:8B-2, states that no employer 

[S]hall knowingly or purposefully
publish, in print or on the Internet, an
advertisement for any job vacancy in
this State that contains one or more of
the following:
a. Any provision stating that the

qualifications for a job include
current employment;

b. Any provision stating that the
employer or employer’s agent, rep-
resentative, or designee will not
consider or review an application for
employment submitted by any job
applicant currently unemployed; or

c. Any provision stating that the
employer or employer’s agent,
representative, or designee will
only consider or review applica-
tions for employment submitted

by job applicants who are current-
ly employed.5

The act expressly states that it does
not create a private right of action; indi-
viduals cannot sue employers who post
ads that contain the prohibited language.6

Governor Christie conditionally vetoed
the original version of the bill, which did
not specifically state that no private right
of action existed under the law.7 Under
the New Jersey Constitution, the gover-
nor has the ability to veto parts of a bill
and condition subsequent approval of the
bill on the Legislature’s adoption of spe-
cific amendments that would make the
bill acceptable to the governor.8 The spe-
cific language prohibiting a private right
of action was added to the act by Gover-
nor Christie after his conditional veto to
clarify that the intent of the sponsors of
the law was to create administrative
penalties only.9 The Legislature then re-
passed the bill with all of the governor’s
recommended amendments.10

The penalty for violating the act is
up to $1,000 for the first offense, up to
$5,000 for the second offense, and up to
$10,000 for each subsequent offense
thereafter.11 The act does not define
what constitutes an offense. For
instance, it is unclear whether an adver-
tisement that runs in both a print news-
paper and the online version of the same
newspaper constitutes one offense or
two. Nor is it clear whether the same
advertisement that runs for multiple
days in a newspaper or that is placed on
multiple job boards on the internet con-
stitutes more than one offense. 
If Crestek ran its advertisement on

either multiple days or in multiple
media, the fact that it was only fined
$1,000 for one offense may indicate that
the New Jersey Department of Labor

(DOL) interprets the term “offense” to
mean the placement of a particular
advertisement, not the resulting appear-
ance(s) of the ad in a newspaper or on
the Internet, as the case may be. Such an
interpretation would be consistent with
the practice of the New Jersey Legisla-
ture, in other contexts, to state expressly
when a single course of conduct consti-
tutes more than one violation. 
For instance, under the Consumer

Fraud Act, it is a violation for a retailer to
sell or attempt to sell merchandise unless
the selling price of the merchandise is
plainly marked with a tag or a sign.12

However, the Consumer Fraud Act also
expressly states that each day merchan-
dise is not marked or tagged with the
proper selling price constitutes a separate
violation of that statute.13 The absence of
a similar provision in the act suggests the
Legislature did not intend for employers
to be liable for multiple violations of the
act for the placement of a single adver-
tisement that runs for a period of time, or
in multiple publications or media.
The DOL has discretion to determine

the fine for each offense under the act,
subject to the statutory maximums
allowed by the act.14 The DOL’s adminis-
trative rules regarding the act set forth five
factors the DOL will take into account
when assessing a penalty against an
employer who violates the act: 1) the seri-
ousness of the violation; 2) the past histo-
ry of previous violations by the employer;
3) the good faith of the employer; 4) the
size of the employer; and 5) any other fac-
tors which are deemed to be appropriate
under the circumstances.15 Employers
fined under the law may appeal the fine to
the commissioner of labor and workforce
development.16 The commissioner may, at
his or her discretion, decide the appeal on
the written record, or conduct a hearing
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before an administrative law judge pur-
suant to the New Jersey Administrative
Procedures Act.17 Under either scenario,
an employer may appeal the commission-
er’s decision to the Appellate Division of
the superior court.18

The act does not prohibit employers
from listing job qualifications, such as
professional or occupational licenses or
other credentials, or a minimum level of
education, training or professional, occu-
pational or field experience. The law also
contains an exception for job advertise-
ments that require that applicants be cur-
rent employees of the employer who is
posting the job.19 This provision was
added by Governor Christie to harmo-
nize the act with New Jersey’s existing
civil service law, which dictates that the
state fill certain civil service job vacan-
cies based on the results of promotional
exams taken by current state employees.
Without this exception, the act may have
conflicted with the mandates of the civil
service law because it would have pro-
hibited the state from posting advertise-
ments for those job vacancies that could,
by law, only be filled by current civil ser-
vice workers.20

The Mens Rea Requirement
The penalties contemplated by the act

are not automatic. In addition to the dis-
cretion given to the DOL to set fines
below the statutory limits, the act contains
a mens rea requirement of intent (i.e. the
DOL may fine an employer only if it
“knowingly or purposefully” publishes
the offending posting). The words “know-
ingly” and “purposefully” were not in the
original bill as it was introduced in the
Assembly.21 Governor Christie added the
words in his conditional veto because of
his concern the bill, as originally present-
ed, would “subject the State’s already
beleaguered business community to sig-
nificant fines, penalties and unwarranted
litigation without requiring a finding of
knowing and purposeful conduct on the
part of the employer.”22

Can an employer defend its discrim-
inatory job advertisements on the basis
of publishing them “unknowingly?”
Crestek apparently argued that it would
appeal because it was not aware that the
law existed.23 But being ignorant of the
law, in addition to being no excuse, is
different than being ignorant of the very
fact that the advertisement was posted

in the first place. 
The law does not set forth what

knowing and purposeful conduct means
in the context of publishing job adver-
tisements. In general, the use of the
adverbs “knowingly” or “purposefully”
requires that the actor in question have a
culpable mental state in order for the par-
ticular statute to be applicable (i.e., his or
her conduct is intentional, not negligent
or reckless).24 It is hard to imagine a sit-
uation where an employer could negli-
gently or recklessly post a job advertise-
ment. Perhaps the added knowing and
purposeful language contemplates a sce-
nario where a ‘rogue’ employee posts a
job listing in violation of the act without
the employer’s knowledge or consent.
But even that interpretation of the statute
is questionable, given the longstanding
common law rule that the acts of an
employee can be imputed to the employ-
er if the employee is acting within the
scope of his or her employment, even if
the specific acts in question were not
authorized or known by the employer.25 

Discrimination Against Unemployed
Not Prohibited By the Act
Despite the prohibition on exclusion-

ary advertisements, some employers still
may believe that hiring from the ranks of
the currently employed is preferable than
hiring a currently unemployed person. In
fact, the owner of Crestek was quoted as
stating that Crestek’s advertisement con-
tained an exclusion for unemployed per-
sons because he wanted to hire someone
at “‘the top of their game.’”26 Nothing in
the act, however, prohibits an employer
from making hiring decisions based on
the employment status of the applicant—
even if the employer may not advertise
such an exclusion. Thus, while the act
clearly prohibits employers from stating
they discriminate against the unem-
ployed, the law does not actually prohib-
it taking into account the fact that an
individual is unemployed in making a
hiring decision. An employer who posts
a job advertisement in compliance with
the law, but then rejects an applicant
based on unemployed status does not
violate the act. 
Nonetheless, although unemployed

persons may not fall within a protected
class under the LAD, Title VII, the
ADEA or the ADA, a hiring practice
that has a disparate impact on a protect-

ed group may violate these laws. Recent
data from the United States Department
of Labor indicates that 15.5 percent of
African-Americans are unemployed and
11.4 percent of Hispanics are unem-
ployed. In contrast, 7.6 percent of Cau-
casians are unemployed.27 Thus, a hiring
policy that automatically excludes
unemployed applicants from considera-
tion, although facially neutral, may be
challenged as having a disparate impact
on African-American and Hispanic
applicants, who are unemployed in
greater percentages than white appli-
cants. The Equal Employment Opportu-
nity Commission recently held a hearing
to investigate whether minority groups
were disproportionately affected by
employers’ refusal to hire the unem-
ployed.28 Thus, although the act does not
allow a private right of action against an
employer who posts advertisements dis-
criminating against the unemployed, it is
conceivable that advertisements such as
these may be introduced as evidence in
lawsuits alleging a disparate impact the-
ory based on an employer’s practice of
not considering unemployed persons for
open positions.
Whether or not the act, as it is written,

has any bite might soon be a moot point.
Over the summer, the Fair Employment
Opportunity Act of 2011 (FEOA) was
introduced in both the Senate and House
of Representatives. The FEOA would
prohibit consideration of an individual’s
status as unemployed in screening for
and filling positions, except where
employment status is a bona fide occu-
pational qualification reasonably neces-
sary to successful performance in the
job.29 Similar bills are pending in Michi-
gan,30 New York,31 and Illinois.32 The
fates of those bills, along with the impact
of the act on the actual hiring practices of
employers, remain to be seen. �
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Gone are the days when employers
can ignore unemployment hearings or
hastily respond to a claim before the
Division of Wage & Hour Compliance.
In a recent case decided by the Appel-
late Division, Gibbs v. Caswell-
Massey,1 the court considered an unem-
ployment appeal tribunal’s determina-
tion when reviewing a summary judg-
ment appeal. According to the court, an
unemployment hearing examiner is
comparable to a reasonable juror, and so
such an examiner’s determination is rel-
evant when analyzing a case. This opin-
ion underlines a potential obligation on
employers to ‘try their case’ before it
begins—at the administrative level.

Background
Defendant Caswell-Massey hired

plaintiff Linda Gibbs in 1993.2

Caswell-Massey is a supplier of luxury
bath and body products. During her
employment, the company promoted
Gibbs to the position of corporate man-
ager, retail stores and international
sales.3 Her job duties included serving
as a liaison between company head-
quarters and its satellite retail stores.4 In
2000, Gibbs was diagnosed with sleep
apnea, which began to interfere with
her work performance. However, Gibbs
continued to receive satisfactory per-
formance evaluations.5

In Nov. 2006, while Gibbs was out
on a disability leave, the human
resources manager received an anony-
mous phone call from a male who
claimed to have information about a
Caswell-Massey employee stealing and
selling its products.6 The then-president
of the company and the human
resources manager met with the caller,

Steven Cutler, who stated that he was in
a business venture with Gibbs’ husband
to sell various items, including
Caswell-Massey products, at a local
flea market.7 Cutler also informed them
that Gibbs’ husband had acquired a
large amount of Caswell-Massey prod-
ucts through Gibbs.8

Cutler provided several items he
claimed were evidence: 1) photographs
of Caswell-Massey’s products on dis-
play at the flea market booth; 2) a plas-
tic bin filled with Caswell-Massey
products; 3) a copy of a book with
Gibbs’ handwriting, which appeared to
be a price list; and 4) a copy of the lease
agreement the Cutlers entered into with
Mr. Gibbs, which specifically men-
tioned Caswell-Massey products. In
addition, Cutler provided a sworn state-
ment that Gibbs admitted to him that
she had accumulated this Caswell-
Massey product over time.9

The company investigated these
claims against Gibbs. The president
conducted a search for receipts of pur-
chases made by Gibbs and security
records to see when Gibbs accessed
office areas.10 The president and the
human resources manager then ques-
tioned Gibbs when she returned from
disability leave.11 Gibbs denied the alle-
gations by Cutler, but admitted that her
husband took Caswell-Massey products
to the flea market without her knowl-
edge, and that she informed her hus-
band she could not sell these products.12

Gibbs also stated that Cutler was black-
mailing her due to a separate dispute he
was having with her husband.13 The
president suspended Gibbs at the con-
clusion of the meeting pending the out-
come of the investigation.

The investigation included a search
of Gibbs’ home, where several storage
bins were located in the basement, but
the contents were not searched.14 The
human resources manager also investi-
gated the booth at the flea market, but
no Caswell-Massey product was
found.15 On Dec. 1, 2006, the company
terminated Gibbs’ employment for vio-
lation of the covenant not to compete,
which was part of her employment
agreement.16

Gibbs applied for unemployment
benefits, for which she was deemed eli-
gible. Caswell-Massey contested
Gibbs’ eligibility for these benefits, and
the appeal tribunal of the New Jersey
Department of Labor heard the matter
in early 2007.17 The tribunal concluded
that Gibbs was not discharged for mis-
conduct, as the company did not present
any evidence of the sale of its products
by Gibbs or a violation of her employ-
ment agreement.18

Gibbs filed a complaint in the Law
Division against Caswell-Massey, the
president, and the human resources
manager, alleging wrongful termination
in violation of the New Jersey Law
Against Discrimination19 (LAD), in
addition to other claims, including
breach of contract, conversion, and vio-
lation of the federal Family and Medical
Leave Act (FMLA).20 Caswell-Massey
removed Gibbs’ complaint to federal
court because of the FMLA claim. After
two years of discovery, Caswell-Massey
moved for summary judgment seeking
to dismiss Gibbs’ complaint.21 The mat-
ter was remanded to state court shortly
after Gibbs stipulated to dismiss her
federal claim, and Caswell-Massey re-
filed its motion for summary judgment
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in May 2010.22

The trial court granted partial sum-
mary judgment of all claims except
Gibbs’ conversion claim. Caswell-
Massey then offered Gibbs $5,000 to
settle the matter with Gibbs reserving
the right to appeal.23 Gibbs filed an
appeal of the Law Division’s decision.

Appellate Division Finds Hearing
Examiner to be a “Reasonable
Person”
The Appellate Division, while ana-

lyzing Gibbs’ LAD claim under the
McDonnell Douglas burden-shifting
formula,24 found that Gibbs presented
sufficient evidence of pretext to warrant
submission of her claim to a jury. The
Appellate Division, viewing the facts in
the light most favorable to Gibbs, dis-
agreed with the trial court in that the
record evidence “could lead a rational
juror to conclude that [the president and
the human resources manager] engaged
in an ineptly conducted, cursory investi-
gation; relied upon a biased and highly
questionable source (Steven Cutler);
turned a blind eye to the explanation of
a thirteen-year employee (Gibbs), and
had no evidence whatsoever that even a
single Caswell-Massey product had
been either exposed for sale, much less
actually sold, at the Route 18 Market or
elsewhere.”25

Interestingly, the Appellate Division
relied on the decision of the unemploy-
ment appeals tribunal to “fortify” its
opinion.26 The fact the tribunal found
that Gibbs was not fired for cause was
“relevant” to the Appellate Division, but
“not conclusive.”27 In effect, the Appel-
late Division viewed the tribunal as “an
exemplar of a rational decision-maker

akin to—but obviously not the equiva-
lent of—a reasonable juror.”28 Even
though the burden of proof differed and
the evidence presented at the unemploy-
ment appeal hearing was minimal and
most likely hastily composed compared
to the evidence on the record for sum-
mary judgment, the Appellate Division
would not discount the tribunal’s view.
The Appellate Division found the tri-
bunal’s argument to be one that an
“objective, rational trier of fact in the
Law Division”29 might make. The
Appellate Division then reversed the
lower court’s decision on this claim and
affirmed on all other counts.

Conclusion
While not completely relying on an

administrative decision as precedent,
the Appellate Division’s consideration
of an unemployment hearing appeal
decision may be a harbinger of opinions
where administrative determinations are
viewed as guidance in summary judg-
ment or other contexts. Employers who
have in the past viewed attendance at
unemployment hearings or defense of a
claim before an administrative agency
as insignificant should take these pro-
ceedings very seriously. In other words,
employers should defend their case as if
they were before a jury. �
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